

Saline County Regional Solid Waste Management District
Rule 22.202 Regarding Requirements for
Solid Waste Hauler Licenses and Vehicle Permits

(Resolution No. 2 of 2014 as
Amended by Resolution No. 5 of 2015
and as Further Amended by Resolution No. 4 of 2019)

Chapter 1 Preliminary Provisions

22.202.101~~SECTION 1~~: *Solid Waste Hauler License Required.* Any person, partnership, corporation, association or other entity listed in ACA § 8-6-721(b)(1) which is engaged in the business of collection of solid waste within the District or which is engaged in the business of transportation of solid waste for disposal or storage within the District shall first obtain a license from the District, and shall keep that license in good standing throughout the conduct of such business.

22.202.102~~SECTION 2~~: *Compliance With ADEQ Standards Required.* All solid waste haulers licensed by the District shall comply with the minimum standards to haul solid waste promulgated by the Arkansas Pollution Control and Ecology Commission (Regulation 22.202) and with the requirements of this Resolution Rule.

Chapter 2 License Application Procedure

22.202.201~~SECTION 3~~: *Annual Issuance of Solid Waste Hauler License and Vehicle Permits.* The Executive Director of the District shall issue solid waste hauler licenses and vehicle permits annually for each calendar year. Initial solid waste hauler licenses and vehicle permits must be obtained prior to the applicant beginning business, and renewal solid waster hauler licenses and vehicle permits must be obtained prior to December 31 of the year preceding the year for which they are issued. All solid waste hauler licenses and vehicle permits will expire on December 31 of the year for which they are issued. Solid waste hauler licenses ~~and vehicle permits~~ are non-transferrable. A vehicle permit may be transferred from a vehicle taken out of service to a replacement vehicle in accordance with Section 22.202.205 of this rule.

22.202.202~~SECTION 7~~: *Application Procedure.* The Executive Director shall promulgate and make available to applicants such forms as the Executive Director may determine are convenient and necessary for the completion of the annual application process. It is the responsibility of the Applicant to timely

request forms from the District Office either in person or by e-mail. The Executive Director may choose to provide application renewal forms to Applicants who are already licensed by the District for the previous year without such request, but it is sole responsibility of the Applicant to ensure timely completion of the application forms. Applicants will ~~complete and submit their forms and application fee payment to the Executive Director along with the following documentation:~~

~~SECTION 3: Application Procedure Clarified. The Executive Director will be guided by the following clarification of the application procedure set forth in Resolution 2 of 2014:~~

~~A. "Complete Application" Defined. A "Complete Application" is comprised of a completed solid waste hauler license application form accompanied by the documentation listed in Section 7 of Resolution No. 2 of 2014 below and accompanied by full payment of the licensing fees calculated in accordance with Section 22.202.205 6 of Resolution No. 2 of 2014. The tender of an application that is not, in the sole opinion of the Executive Director, a complete application will not be treated as the submission of an application for purpose of determining whether the Late-Application Fee will be required of the applicant when the applicant later submits a complete application.~~

- ~~a. Proof of Insurance.~~
- ~~b. City of Benton business privilege license or reciprocal license for operation inside the city limits of Benton.~~
- ~~c. City of Bryant Solid Waste Permit for operation inside the city limits of Bryant.~~
- b. A completed Motor Vehicle Registration Form for each vehicle for which a vehicle permit is sought.
- c. ~~d. A C~~urrent "Letter of Good Standing" from the Arkansas Department of Finance and Administration showing that the licensee is properly qualified to collect Arkansas sales and use taxes and that licensee has properly reported and remitted all sales and use taxes. B. "Letter of Good Standing" Defined. The term "Letter of Good Standing" referred to in **Section 7 (d) of Resolution No. 2 of 2014**, means "Tax Clearance Letter-Form ET007²" or any other document issued by the Arkansas Department of Finance and Administration which, in the opinion of the Executive Director of the District, shows that the licensee is properly qualified to collect Arkansas sales and use taxes and that the licensee is in good standing with the Arkansas Department of Finance and Administration with regard to the collection of Arkansas sales and use taxes.

22.202.203: Vehicle Inspections. ~~After submitting the application~~ By submitting an application for solid waste hauler license and one or more vehicle permits, the applicant ~~shall coordinate with the Executive Director or their designee to schedule a time for a visual inspection of~~ represents and verifies that all vehicles for which a vehicle permit is requested. ~~Each vehicle must pass inspection by the District before a vehicle permit can be issued for it. In addition to the inspection of each vehicle prior to issuance of a vehicle permit, the~~ then meet and will continue to meet throughout the year for which the solid waste hauler license is issued the requirements set out in Section 22.202.204. The District Environmental Enforcement Officer ~~may~~ will inspect vehicles hauling solid waste within the District on a random basis throughout the permit year. If violations are found in the inspection of a vehicle for which the District has issued a current vehicle permit, the Environmental Enforcement Officer will prepare in duplicate a Solid Waste Hauler Inspection Report listing the violations and the date by which the person in charge of the vehicle at the time of the inspection and the Environmental Enforcement Officer agree the listed violations will be corrected. The person in charge of the vehicle at the time of the inspection will sign the copy retained by the District's Environmental Enforcement Officer and will retain the other copy. Failure to correct the listed violations within the time stated on the Solid Waste Hauler Inspection Report is a violation of this Rule.

22.202.204 ~~SECTION 5:~~ *Vehicle Inspection Requirements.* All vehicles shall comply with the following at all times:

- a. Open top trucks must have a tarp and straps.
- b. No "open air" side boards or tailgates (all front panels, side boards, and tailgates surrounding the solid waste being transported must be fully enclosed/solid).
- c. All lights must be operational.
- d. Each vehicle shall have an operational fire extinguisher.
- e. Each vehicle shall have Safety flares and/or Reflective triangles.
- f. Each vehicle shall have Motor Vehicle Lettering on doors or packer bed which lettering shall comply with C.F.R. § 390.21, and which shall include:
 - i. Name of business on each side of motor vehicle.
 - ii. Phone number on each side of motor vehicle.
 - iii. City, State and Postal Zip Code of home office on each side of motor vehicle.
 - iv. Lettering size must be a minimum of 2 inches in size.
 - v. Lettering must be a contrast color from the base color of the motor vehicle.

- g. Proof of current vehicle registration and current liability insurance coverage shall be kept in the vehicle at all times.
- h. ~~All vehicles which are engaged in the business of collection of solid waste within the District or which are engaged in the business of transportation of solid waste for disposal or storage within the District are subject to being reinspected for continuing compliance at any time or place by the Executive Director or his designated representative.~~

22.202.205~~SECTION 6~~: *Fees*. Each applicant shall pay an application fee for vehicles of 1 ton or less of \$25.00 per vehicle and for vehicles larger than 1 ton of \$50.00 per vehicle. The issuance of a solid waste hauler license includes the inspection and permitting of one vehicle used in the operation of the solid waste business. The applicant shall additionally pay a fee of \$25.00 per vehicle for each vehicle of 1 ton or less and of \$50.00 for each vehicle larger than 1 ton for the inspection and permitting of the second and each additional vehicle. Application fees are not pro-rated. An applicant for an initial solid waste hauler license and/or vehicle permits shall pay the full-year fee regardless of when during a calendar year the license and/or vehicle permit is issued. PROVIDED, HOWEVER, that a licensed solid waste hauler may pay a fee of \$15.00 at any time during the year to transfer a vehicle permit from a vehicle taken out of service to a replacement vehicle, The replacement vehicle shall be inspected and must comply with all requirements of this rule before the transfer of the vehicle permit can be completed.

22.202.206~~SECTION 1~~: *Late-Application Fee for License Renewal Imposed*. ~~The Fees set out in Section 6 of Resolution 2 of 2014 shall remain unchanged. However,~~ aAny applicant who submits an application for issuance of a solid waste hauler license for the subsequent year later than the last business day prior to the expiration of the applicant's current solid waste hauler license or later than the last business day prior to December 31 of the current year, whichever is earlier, shall pay a Late-Application Fee of Two Hundred Fifty Dollars (\$250.00) in addition to the fees required by ~~the said~~ Section ~~6 of Resolution 2 of 2014~~22.202.205. The Late-Application Fee shall not be required of an applicant for an initial solid waste hauler license regardless of when the initial application is submitted.

Chapter 3 Operation and Enforcement

22.202.301~~SECTION 4~~: *Solid Waste Hauler Operational Requirements*. All collection and transportation systems shall meet the conditions outlined below:

- a. Solid waste shall be collected and transported so as to prevent public health hazards, environmental hazards, safety hazards and nuisances.
- b. Collection and transportation vehicles shall be kept in good working order and in a sanitary condition.
- c. Every hauler must display the one-year decal given at the time of permitting, said decal to be placed on the driver side of the hauling vehicle by the Executive Director or their representative at the time of inspection.
- d. All solid waste collected and transported in the District must be covered to prevent littering on highways and roadways. While a vehicle is moving short distances between pickups, the tarp may be left partially open so long as no solid waste is allowed to be blown, dropped, spilled or otherwise discharged from the vehicle. At all other times, the tarp shall be securely fastened, covering the entire contents of the vehicle.
- e. Yard waste must NOT be mixed with residential or commercial waste.
- f. Drivers shall have the appropriate operator license required by State law for the vehicle they operate.

22.202.302~~SECTION 8~~: *Violations*. The making of any material misrepresentation in connection with an application for solid waste hauler licenses or vehicle permits or the failure to comply with any of the provisions of this Rule Resolution shall be a violation of a regulation of a regional solid waste management board within the meaning of ACA § 8-6-722 and shall be punished accordingly.

22.202.303~~SECTION 4~~: *Revocation or Suspension of License or Permit*. Solid waste hauler licenses and/or vehicle registration permits issued thereunder may be revoked or suspended.

- A. *Grounds for Revocation or Suspension*. The Executive Director may revoke or suspend any solid waste hauler license and/or one or more of the vehicle registration permits issued thereunder by the District after the same have been issued, when any one or more of the following grounds exist:
 1. When the license was obtained by fraud or false representation of facts;
 2. When the license was issued through mistake or inadvertence;

3. When the license application contained any false or misleading statement, evasions or suppression or omission of material facts.

4. When the license holder has committed substantial violations of the terms and conditions on which a license is issued.

5. When multiple customer complaints about the licensee have been submitted to the District.

6. When the licensee has violated local or county environmental ordinances or state environmental laws or those regulating the business activity for which the license is issued.

7. When the licensee has demonstrated wrongful behavior of a substantial character and of a public concern in relation to the licensed activity.

8. When reasonably necessary in the interests of protection of the public health, safety, or welfare.

B. *Notice; Opportunity to be Heard.* Before any solid waste hauler license and/or any vehicle permit issued thereunder shall be revoked or suspended, the holder of such license shall be given 10 business days' notice of an opportunity to be heard before Executive Director of the Saline County Regional Solid Waste District at which time the holder of such license must demonstrate cause why such license and/or vehicle registration permit should not be revoked or suspended.

Notice of the proposed revocation or suspension and of the opportunity to be heard shall be in writing and served on the license holder at the address on file with the District by first class or certified mail or delivered in person to the place of business.

The notice to be given to the holder of such license must state the grounds and reasons for the recommended revocation or suspension and must also state the time and date on which the opportunity to be heard as well as the location. The purpose of the opportunity to be heard includes but is not limited to:

1. Clarify any misunderstandings of facts;
2. Establish agreement on as many of the undisputed facts as possible;
3. Identify the factual disagreements to be decided by the Executive Director;

C. *Director's Determination; Appeal.* The Executive Director, within five (5) business days following the date of the opportunity to be heard, shall notify the license holder by certified mail of the Executive Director's decision. Such decision shall be either:

1. To withdraw the Notice of Revocation or Suspension; or

2. To revoke or suspend the solid waste hauler license and/or the vehicle registration permit(s) issued thereunder.

The notice shall contain the findings of fact which formed the basis for the Executive Director's decision. The license holder shall have 15 days to file a written appeal and request for a hearing before the Board to contest the findings of fact upon which the Executive Director relied. Upon receipt of the written request, the Board shall set the date, time and location of a Hearing before Board;

The Notice of Hearing shall be served upon business license holder by mailing the same to the business license holder at the address on file at the District's office. Service shall be by any means allowable by the Arkansas Rules of Civil Procedure as well as by First Class mail. The failure of a license holder to receive the Notice of Hearing, if sent to the last address on file at the Board, shall not constitute a failure to serve the license holder. The Notice of Hearing shall be mailed to the respondent at least 20 days prior to the hearing.

D. *Hearing Before the Board.*

1. Appearance at the Hearing. The license holder must appear on the date specified in the notice of hearing unless another date is agreed upon in writing by both the District and the license holder. If the license holder does not appear on the scheduled date the Board will interpret the absence as an indication that the license holder no longer wishes to pursue the matter. The license holder will be in "default" and the Board will interpret the absence to be an admission by license holder that all of the findings of fact made by the Executive Director are true. In that event, the Board will affirm the Executive Director's decision by resolution.

2. Conduct of the Hearing. The hearing will be conducted as an administrative hearing. The Board will oversee the hearing, rule on procedure, and determine the evidence which may be presented. At the hearing, the license holder shall have the right to introduce pertinent witnesses and documents and be represented by an attorney should the license holder choose.

The Executive Director or their designee and the license holder may make an opening statement. Each will briefly summarize the facts as believed. Each party may then present evidence. The Executive Director will present the evidence first, the witnesses, if any, and then the license holder may do the same. The evidence may be in documents or oral testimony from witnesses. Witnesses will be sworn to tell the truth. Both the license holder and the Executive Director may be a witness.

Generally, witnesses can testify only about matters of which they have personal knowledge. Documents may be viewed by the Board. The Board has the authority to determine which evidence will be considered.

3. Board Determinations. Following the hearing, and after deliberation, the Board may, by resolution, take one of the following actions:

a. Revoke or suspend the then current license and/or vehicle registration permit(s) issued thereunder; or,

b. Choose not to revoke or suspend the then current license and/or vehicle registration permit(s) issued thereunder.

4. Notice of Decision. The Board shall notify the license holder of its decision by one or more of the following methods:

a. Personal delivery to the license holder; or

b. Certified mail, return receipt requested, to the last address on file with the District; or

c. Fax notice to the last known fax number on file with the District; or,

d. Posting a notice of the license revocation in a conspicuous place upon the premises of the fixed place of business as specified in the application for the license.

E. Emergency Suspension of License. Upon a finding and declaration by the Executive Director that an emergency situation exists which may endanger the public environmental health the Executive Director may immediately suspend a solid waste hauler license and/or a vehicle permit(s) issued thereunder.

1. Notice of Emergency Suspension. As soon as practical after taking such action, the Executive Director shall notify the license holder of the emergency suspension by one or more of the following methods:

a. Personal delivery to the license holder; or,

b. Certified mail, return receipt requested, to the last address on file with the District; or,

c. Fax notice to the last known fax number on file with the District; or,

d. Posting a notice of the emergency suspension in a conspicuous place upon the premises of the fixed place of business as specified in the application for the license.

2. Appeal. The solid waste hauler license holder may appeal the Executive Director's decision using the same procedure for appeal as that set out in Subsection D *Hearing Before the Board* set out above.

Chapter 4 Miscellaneous

22.202.401: Severability. If any provision of this rule or the application thereof to any person or circumstance is held invalid, such invalidity shall not affect other provisions or applications of this rule which can be given effect without the invalid provision or application, and to this end provisions of this rule are declared to be severable.

22.202.402: Effective Date. This rule shall govern the issuance of all Solid Waste Hauler Licenses and Vehicle Permits issued for the years 2020 and thereafter and shall be in full force and effect ten (10) days after filing with the Secretary of State, the State Library, and the Bureau of Legislative Research following adoption by the Saline County Regional Solid Waste Management Board.